

Review

Available online at

ScienceDirect

www.sciencedirect.com

Elsevier Masson France



EM consulte www.em-consulte.com/en

Heart targeted nanoliposomal/nanoparticles drug delivery: An updated review



Mostafa Cheraghi^a, Babak Negahdari^b, Hadis Daraee^{b,c,d}, Ali Eatemadi^{b,c,d,*}

^a Department of Cardiology, Lorestan University of Medical Sciences, Khoramabad, Iran

^b Department of Medical Biotechnology, School of Advanced Technologies in Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

^c Department of Medical Biotechnology, School of Medicine, Lorestan University of Medical sciences, Lorestan, Iran

^d Razi Herbal Medicine Research Center, Lorestan University of Medical Science, Iran

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 17 October 2016 Received in revised form 4 December 2016 Accepted 5 December 2016

Keywords: Nano-liposomes Myocardial infarction Nanoparticles Atherosclerosis Nanoliposomes are type of nano-sized vesicles made of bi-layered phospholipid membranes with an aqueous interior. They have been demonstrated to deliver several materials like low molecular weight drugs, imaging agents, peptides, proteins, and nucleic acids. Nanoliposomes have been demonstrated to slowly release an encapsulated drug, thereby leading to sustained exposure to target region and improved efficacy. This ability of nano-liposomes can be harnessed to deliver therapeutic agents precisely to the infarcted heart. Accordingly, this article will review recent developments in the application of nano liposomes and nanoparticles as drug delivery systems to treat cardiovascular related disorders such as atherosclerosis, restenosis and myocardial infarction.

© 2016 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction				
	1.1. Mode of action of liposomal-cell interactions				
	1.2. Mode of action of liposomal drug interactions				
	1.3. Molecular mode of action of nano-liposomal drug interactions				
	1.4. Nano-liposome drug delivery to infarcted heart				
	1.5. Application of nano-liposomes to imaging cardiovascular disorders				
2.	Conclusion				
Conflict of interest statement					
	Acknowledgments				
	References				

1. Introduction

The use of nano-technology in providing treatment and therapy to cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) might be the answer to current challenges in CVDs. Kong, in his report says nano-technology helps to improve detection and therapy by advancing the ex-vivo and

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2016.12.009 0753-3322/© 2016 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved. in-vivo detection and imaging of biomarkers, in addition will upgrade the delivery of drugs and tissue regeneration [1] (Fig. 1).

Nanoliposomes are type of nano sized nano-vesicles made of bilayered phospholipid membranes with an aqueous interior (Fig. 2) [2].

Nano-liposomes have been demonstrated to deliver several materials like low molecular weight drugs, imaging agents, peptides, proteins, and nucleic acids [3–7]. Nanoliposomes have been demonstrated to slowly release an encapsulated drug, thereby leading to sustained exposure to target region and improved efficacy. Most importantly nano-liposomes have been used effectively as both passive targeting and active targeting delivery routes [8]. As an active targeting route, it is loaded with

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Medical Biotechnology, School of Advanced Technologies in Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran.

E-mail address: a-eatemadi@razi.tums.ac.ir (A. Eatemadi).



Fig. 1. Nanotechnology approaches for the advanced diagnosis and treatment of CVDs (schematic): Nanoparticles for (A) multimodal image contrast and (B) improved treatment of CVDs can be targeted to immune cells or specific ligands on the inflamed endothelium of the atherosclerotic plaque; (C) *in-vivo* sensors implanted in the pericardial region or on one of the main blood vessels and techniques for *ex-vivo*detection of biomarkers; (D) nanostructured drug/nanoparticle-eluting stents.



Fig. 2. Showing a diagrammatic representation of nano-liposome application in drug delivery.

bio-materials, antibody, ligands to be precisely delivered to the targeted organs or tissues, and release drug for a prolonged period of time, so that the healthy cells are not affected and only the unhealthy or infarcted cells are affected [9]. In this review, we will extensively give a summary of recent developments in nanotechnology for the detection and therapy of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) focusing on nanoparticles and nano-liposomes. Over the years liposomes have been used as a nano-carriers with different surface characteristics and have been investigated as therapeutic and theranostic agents for restenosis. Other examples of these classes are given in Table 1.

The treatment of infarcted heart through experimental studies has involved the delivering growth factors, cytokines and drugs to the infarcted cardiac cells [10] and they have been basically delivered via two ways namely direct injection, or by injecting biomolecule-loaded nano-particles/nanoliposomes or gels to the left ventricle (LV) [11,12]. However, the efficiency of these two basic methods may be decreased due to lack of retention of the factors or micro particles in the desired area. As such there is a need to develop an approach to deliver a biomaterial that will precisely deliver these bio-molecules into the infarcted area [13,14]. Fig. 3 shows a model of drug delivery by nanoliposomes.

1.1. Mode of action of liposomal-cell interactions

There are different ways by which a drug loaded on a liposome is delivered when a liposome interacts with a cell. Firstly, the cell membrane can be responsible for the inward absorption of the liposomes and lipases enzyme degrades the carriers' bilayer membrane. Secondly, the release of the liposome content as a result of its fusion with the plasma membrane of the target cells. Thirdly, it's a kind of receptor-mediated endocytosis. This process

Table 1

Showing different forms of liposomes and its application.

Nanocarriers	Example of agent	Experimental model	Outcomes	Refs.
	Bisphosphonates (clodronate, alendronate)	Injured carotid artery in rats	Macrophage depletion, reduced inflammation	[62]
Cationic liposomes	Chloramphenicol acetyl transferase (CAT) encoding gene.	Balloon-injured artery in Yorkshire pigs, local delivery	Increased expression of CAT	[63]
	Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) encoding viral vector	Clinical trial, patients with 60–99% stenosis in major arteries, local delivery through catheter	Significant improvement in myocardial perfusion	[64]
Perfluorocarbon nanoparticles	Surface bound streptokinase, $\alpha 3\beta$ integrins, others	Human plasma clots, hyperlipidemic animals	In-vitrofibrinolysis, theranostic in vivo	[65]
Polyelectrolyte nanoparticles (RNA or polyvinyl sulfate with polyethylene imine/DNA complex)	Gene encoding for urokinase plasminogen activator	Rat carotid artery	High transfection efficiency	[66]
Polymeric (PLA or PLGA) nanoparticles	AG-1295 and AGL-2043	Balloon-injured carotid artery in rats	Inhibition of restenosis	[67]



Fig. 3. Showing diagrammatic representation of drug delivery by liposomes.

only involves vesicles and liposomes of a maximum diameter of 150 nm that are phagocytosed by cells like macrophages, monocytes, and Kupffer cells Fig. 4 [15]. Furthermore, the mode of action and level of liposome-cell interaction is strongly determined by the nature and density of the charge of the liposomes surface, however changes in the lipid composition can lead to the modification of the above-mentioned parameters.

1.2. Mode of action of liposomal drug interactions

The delivery of the encapsulated drug is strongly determined by the nature of the lipid bilayer, the size of the drug molecules and importantly their interactions with the lipid membrane. The encapsulation efficiency of a loaded drug in a liposome depends on its polarity and partition coefficient. If the loaded drug is hydrophobic in nature, it resides in the acyl hydro- carbon chain of the liposome, and hence encapsulation is dependent on the properties of the acyl chains of the liposome. However if the loaded drug is polar, its likely to be localize in the aqueous core or adjacent to the water–lipid interface, very close to the polar head groups of the liposome [16]

The advantages of drug delivery using a nanoliposomes and liposomes are because of greater solubility of the intended drug, increased half-life, and selective delivery to the site of action, enhanced therapeutic index, and resistance against chemotherapeutics. When a drug is loaded into liposomes, it assumes the liposome pharmacokinetics until it is delivered. As a result, liposomes alters both the tissue distribution and the rate of clearance of the loaded drug [17]. The pharmacokinetics of drugs loaded on a nano-liposome depends on the physicochemical characteristics of the nano-liposomes like lipid composition, size, membrane lipid packing, steric stabilization, surface charge, dose, and route of administration.

1.3. Molecular mode of action of nano-liposomal drug interactions

There are two possible different mechanisms to explain how nano-liposomes are internalized by cells in vivo: (i) integral nanoliposomes up- take by cells, followed by intracellular drug release, or (ii), the nano-liposomal loaded drug is released into the tumor and taken up by the cells via interstitial fluid.

Furthermore factors leading to effective release of nanoliposomal loaded drug have been said to include collapse or partial collapse of the ammonium sulfate gradient and/or the destabilization of nano-liposomes by phospholipases that hydrolyze the liposome phospholipids, thereby enabling faster release of the nano-liposome loaded drug [18]. However, it should be noted that there are still some major oppositions to the phospholipaserelated drug release mode of action, as there is no proven drug release in vivo from Stealth cisplatin, an identical drug delivery system to nano-liposomal. Secondly, the presence of cholesterol in the liposome membrane inhibits severely phospholipase activity



Fig. 4. Liposome-cell interaction.Notes: Liposomes loaded with a drug interact with the cell, binding to the surface through receptors (A). Absorption onto the plasma membrane can also occur by electrostatic interactions (B). The delivery of the cargo into the cell cytoplasm can take place through different modes. Lipid nanocarriers fuse with the plasma membrane and discharge drugs into the cell (C). After the interaction with the cell, the structure of the liposome bilayer can be affected and the cargo is released (D). exchange of carrier-lipid components with the cell membrane can also occur (E). Liposomes internalized by endocytosis (F) can have different fates depending on physicochemical characteristics. endosomes fuse with lysosomes (G): in this case, the low pH induces the degradation of the liposome membrane and the drug is released. endosymes follow another route (H): liposomes release their cargo after fusion or the destabilization of the endocytic vesicle. This figure was culled from [61].

[18]. Conclusively the collapse of the ammonium sulfate gradient might be the only available explanation to how nano-liposomes deliver its loaded drugs in vivo. However it's yet unproven and its proof still requires both clinical and non-clinical extensive investigations.

1.4. Nano-liposome drug delivery to infarcted heart

Several researchers have reported the efficacy of targeted nanoliposomes, as they maybe injected intravenously (IV), to circulate within several body organs example been in infarcted heart where they have been used to precisely target macrophages [19] and blood vessels [20] while some researchers have successfully designed a nanoparticulate system based on liposomes principle that could specifically target cardiac cells (Fig. 5).

Dvir et al. recently investigated and reported the potential of the angiotensin II type 1 (AT1) nano-liposomes to bind cardiac cells. The AT1 particles exhibited superior and efficient targeting capability (Fig. 6A and B). Furthermore, the cells were subjected to 48 h of hypoxia, the proportion of targeted cells rose from 52% to more than 83% (p=0.007) (Fig. 5C and E). Finally, he reported that the amounts of AT1 nano- liposomes amassed in the infarcted heart after day 1, 4, and 7 were 48, 39, and 27% respectively of the total amount accumulated in all organs studied. Dvir et al. concluded that nano-liposomes would precisely target an injured or unhealthy health but not the healthy heart, proposing that this finding can form the backbone for drug delivery to a heart after MI. Furthermore; he stated that angiotensin II type 1 (AT1) targeting improves the accuracy of delivery to the injured myocardium. He concluded that both methods could be used to decrease systemic toxicity of delivered drugs, thereby increasing local therapeutic effect [21]

In addition to Dvir and colleague findings, they also reported the efficacy of AT1 nanoparticles to precisely target the infarcted heart in mice in which MIs were induced via ligation of the left descending coronary artery. Fluorescently labeled nano liposomes



Fig. 5. Concept schematic. After myocardial infarction, the AT1 receptor is overexpressed in the LV. Nanoparticles conjugated with a ligand specific for the AT1 receptor are injected intravenously. After circulating in the body the particles specifically target the LV, where they can release therapeutic agents. This figure was re-produced from [21].



Fig. 6. Cardiac cell targeting in vitro. (A) Targeting cardiac cells with nanoparticles conjugated with nonspecific scrambled peptide as a targeter. (B) Targeting with AT1 nanoparticles. (C) Cardiac cells cultured under hypoxic conditions targeted by AT1 nanoparticles. (D) Higher magnification of C reveals multiple particles binding to each cell. Sarcomeric actinin (green), nuclei (blue), and nanoparticles (red).



Fig. 7. Targeting the infarcted myocardium. (A) IVIS images of hearts injected with AT1 or scrambled (S) nanoparticles 1, 4, and 7 days after infarction. The hearts were isolated 24 h post injection and imaged. LV is located in the lower right side of each image. (B) Accumulation of AT1 nanoparticles injected one day post infarction in the LV of the infarcted heart. Nanoparticles, red; tissue autofluorescence, green.

were injected into the right jugular vein day 1, 4, and 7 after MI. It was concluded via in vivo imaging system (IVIS) that nano liposomes particles amassed predominantly in the left ventricle. To further validate the presence of the nano-liposomes particles, thin sections of the LV wall after MI was observed (Fig. 7A and B).

Katherine and co-worker demonstrated the therapeutic efficacy of celecoxib nanoparticles in ischemic tissue, which was experimentally carried in mice with the ligation of the left anterior descending artery (LAD) that lead to continuous waves of heart attack accompanied with ischemia of the cardiac muscles. 10 of the mice were treated administered with celecoxib nanoparticles in the hydrogel while others were administered drug-free vehicle control in the hydrogel.

After 4 weeks, parameters like vital signs, heart function, myocardium structural changes, heart volume, and infarct perfusion were monitored and recorded at two and four- week time points after ligation [22]. Katherine and co-worker reported that 60% of the mice survived in the control group, while 100% survival rate was recorded in the treated group, which was evident as there was angiogenesis in the infarcted area (Fig. 8A) at both second and fourth week of recorded time points. They also reported evidences of no heart failure and poor cardiac muscle contractility (Fig. 8B) in the treated group and through echocardiography there was insignificant changes observed in the functions of the left ventricle (Figs. 8C) [23–28].

1.5. Application of nano-liposomes to imaging cardiovascular disorders

Imaging and therapy of atherosclerosis, restenosis have been the few areas of cardiovascular research to witness the application of nanotechnology in the identification and characterization of the early stages of some diseases. Nano technology like fluorescent, radioactive, paramagnetic, super-paramagnetic, electron-dense and light-scattering particles have been applied to cardiovascular imaging (Table 2).



Fig. 8. Treatment efficacy in mice with permanent LAD ligation 2 and 4 weeks postinjection. (A) CD31 staining of blood vessels at the infarction area. Red color indicates blood vessels; blue is cell nuclei. (B) Myocardium morphology, H&E stained. (C) M-mode echocardiography. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

M. Cheraghi et al./Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 86 (2017) 316-323

Table 2

Showing various application of nanoparticles to imaging of cardiovascular system.

Category	Agent (examples)	Imaging techniques	Refs.
Fluorescent	Quantum dots	Fluorescence tomography	[68]
Radioactive	FCLO,In nanoparticles	PET, SPECT	[69]
Paramagnetic	Gd-DTPA	MRI	[70]
Superparamagnetic	Ironoxide nanoparticles	MRI	[71]
Electron-dense	Gold or I-based nanoparticles	CT	[72,73]
Light-scattering	Gold nanoshells	Optical coherent tomography	[74]
Photoacoustic	Colloidal nanobeacons	Photoacoustic tomography PET, MRI, NIRF	[75]
Multimodal	Copper-CLIO Perfluorocarbon nanoparticles	MRI, Molecular imaging	[65]

Abbreviations: SPECT: single photon emission computed tomography, PET: positron emission tomography, MRI: Magnetic resonance Imaging, NIRF: near infrared fluorescence, DPTA: diethylenetriaminepentacetate, CT: Computed topography.

Table 3

Showing various applications of nano-liposomes in the detection of CV related diseases.

Sensor targets	Technology	Applications	Refs.
K ⁺ , H ⁺ ions	Field effect transistor (FET)	Myocardial ischemia	[29]
Na ⁺ ions	Fluorescent nano-liposomes sensors	QT syndrome, heart failure	[30]
Nitric oxide	Single-walled carbon nanotube (SWNT)	Hypertension	[76]
		Ischemia/reperfusion	
oxLDL Cholesterol	Porphyrinic nano-liposome sensor	Acute heart attack	[37]
Blood pressure	In ₂ O ₃ nanowire-based FET	Pressure monitoring,	[77]
-	Piezoelectric-BioMEMS	Myocardial infarction	
	Chip-embedded flexible packaging (CEFP)	Stenosis in heart bypass	
		Grafts	
Blood flow	Piezoelectric-BioMEMS		[78]

Furthermore, nano particles have been demonstrated to be used as a nano sensors for in-situ rapid detection of K⁺, H⁺, Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ ions, as the activities of these ions have an important role to play as a potential indicators of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) [29]. Ji and co-worker reported the fabrication of flexible nano-electrode sensors for K⁺ to detect the mechanism of ischemic heart disease [30–35]. In addition, Errachid and colleagues also demonstrated a multi-nanosensor silicon needle used for the detection of myocardial ischemia during cardiac surgery [36]. It should be noted that heart failure have been linked to changes in the sodiumchannel function as such functionalized nano-particles have been demonstrated to detect Ca²⁺ ions in relation to CVDs [37]. Table 3 [38-41] shows important nano particles used as nanosensors for the detection of bio-molecules involved in cardiovascular system [42–45]. Cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein are labeled as a biomarker for acute heart attack in patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) have been demonstrated to be detected by a In_2O_3 nanowire-based FET sensors [46-50].

2. Conclusion

CVDs are one of leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the world. We gave an overview on the current applications of nanoliposomes and nanoparticles in detecting and treatment of cardiovascular diseases, however more research studies and clinical trials are needed to fabricate and develop efficient nanoliposomes with reduced side effects to deliver drugs to myocardial infarction and other CVDs [51–56]. In conclusion, we envisage that nano-liposomes in combination with appropriate drug delivery system can be used to achieve a long-term cardiac repair, and such knowledge may be inculcated into clinical trials by utilizing several potential delivery routes [57–60].

Conflict of interest statement

The authors have no conflicts of interest in regard to this research or its funding.

Acknowledgments

The authors thanks Department of Medical Biotechnology, School of Advance Technologies in Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences and Department of Cardiology, Lorestan University of Medical Sciences, Khoramabad, Iran.

References

- D.F. Kong, P.J. Goldschmidt-Clermont, Tiny solutions for giant cardiac problems, Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 15 (2005) 207–211.
- [2] A. Yousefi, F. Esmaeili, S. Rahimian, F. Atyabi, R. Dinarvand, Preparation and in vitro evaluation of a pegylated nano-liposomal formulation containing docetaxel, Sci. Pharm. 77 (2009) 453–464.
- [3] A. Eatemadi, H. Daraee, H.T. Aiyelabegan, B. Negahdari, B. Rajeian, N. Zarghami, Synthesis and characterization of chrysin-loaded PCL-PEG-PCL nanoparticle and its effect on breast cancer cell line, Biomed. Pharmacother. 84 (2016) 1915–1922.
- [4] S. Vahabi, A. Eatemadi, Phyto-anesthetics: a mini-review on herb-anesthesia drug interactions, Biomed. Pharmacother. 84 (2016) 1885–1890.
- [5] M. Ghafarzadeh, M. Namdari, A. Eatemadi, Stem cell therapies for congenital heart disease, Biomed. Pharmacother. 84 (2016) 1163–1171.
- [6] M. Namdari, A. Eatemadi, B. Negahdari, Natriuretic peptides and their therapeutic potential in heart failure treatment: an updated review, Cell. Mol. Biol. (Noisy-le-grand) 62 (2016) 1.
- [7] M. Namdari, A. Eatemadi, Nanofibrous bioengineered heart valve-application in paediatric medicine, Biomed. Pharmacother. 84 (2016) 1179–1188.
- [8] A. Kumar, S. Badde, R. Kamble, V.B. Pokharkar, Development and characterization of liposomal drug delivery system for Nimesulide, Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 2 (2010) 87–89.
- [9] E. Arab Tehrany, C.J.F. Kahn, C. Baravian, B. Maherani, N. Belhaj, X. Wang, M. Linder, Elaboration and characterization of nanoliposome made of soya; rapeseed and salmon lecithins: application to cell culture, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 95 (2012) 75–81.
- [10] E. Ruvinov, T. Dvir, J. Leor, S. Cohen, Myocardial repair: from salvage to tissue reconstruction, Expert Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther. 6 (2008) 669–686.
- [11] J.C. Sy, G. Seshadri, S.C. Yang, M. Brown, T. Oh, S. Dikalov, N. Murthy, M.E. Davis, Sustained release of a p38 inhibitor from non-inflammatory microspheres inhibits cardiac dysfunction, Nat. Mater. 7 (2008) 863–868.
- [12] J.C. Garbern, E. Minami, P.S. Stayton, C.E. Murry, Delivery of basic fibroblast growth factor with a pH-responsive, injectable hydrogel to improve angiogenesis in infarcted myocardium, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 2407–2416.
- [13] T. Dvir, A. Kedem, E. Ruvinov, et al., Prevascularization of cardiac patch on the omentum improves its therapeutic outcome, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 14990–14995.

- [14] Y. Miyagi, F. Zeng, X.P. Huang, W.D. Foltz, J. Wu, A. Mihic, T.M. Yau, R.D. Weisel, R.K. Li, Surgical ventricular restoration with a cell- and cytokine-seeded biodegradable scaffold, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 7684–7694.
- [15] V. Torchilin, Tumor delivery of macromolecular drugs based on the EPR effect, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 63 (2011) 131–135.
- [16] A. Mohan, S. Narayanan, S. Sethuraman, U.M. Krishnan, Novel resveratrol and 5-fluorouracil coencapsulated in PEGylated nanoliposomes improve chemotherapeutic efficacy of combination against head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, BioMed Res. Int. 2014 (4) (2014) 1–14.
- [17] A. Gabizon, H. Shmeeda, Y. Barenholz, Pharmacokinetics of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin: review of animal and human studies, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 42 (2003) 419–436.
- [18] O.G. Mouritsen, K. Jørgensen, A new look at lipid-membrane structure in relation to drug research, Pharm. Res. 15 (1998) 1507–1519.
- [19] T. Harel-Adar, T. Ben Mordechai, Y. Amsalem, M.S. Feinberg, J. Leor, S. Cohen, Modulation of cardiac macrophages by phosphatidylserine-presenting liposomes improves infarct repair, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (2011) 1827–1832.
- [20] R.C. Scott, J.M. Rosano, Z. Ivanov, B. Wang, P.L.-G. Chong, A.C. Issekutz, D.L. Crabbe, M.F. Kiani, Targeting VEGF-encapsulated immunoliposomes to MI heart improves vascularity and cardiac function, FASEB J. 23 (2009) 3361– 3367.
- [21] T. Dvir, M. Bauer, A. Schroeder, J.H. Tsui, D.G. Anderson, R. Langer, R. Liao, D.S. Kohane, Nanoparticles targeting the infarcted heart, Nano Lett. 11 (2011) 4411– 4414.
- [22] K. Margulis, E.A. Neofytou, R.E. Beygui, R.N. Zare, Celecoxib nanoparticles for therapeutic angiogenesis, ACS Nano 9 (2015) 9416–9426.
- [23] S. Vahabi, A. Abaszadeh, F. Yari, N. Yousefi, Postoperative pain, nausea and vomiting among pre-and postmenopausal women undergoing cystocele and rectocele repair surgery, Korean J Anesthesiol 68 (2015) 581–585.
- [24] S. Vahabi, S. Nadri, F. Izadi, The effects of gabapentin on severity of post spinal anesthesia headache, Pak. J. Pharm. Sci. 27 (2014) 1203–1207.
- [25] S. Vahabi, T. Shoja, S. Chaibakhsh, M. Khak, N. Saljoughi, Effect of postoperative topical administration of magnesium sulfate on pain relief in paediatric adenotonsillectomy: a randomised controlled study, Hong Kong J. Paediatr. 17 (2012) 109–114.
- [26] S. Vahabi, A.H. Kazemi, Effects of clonidine as a premedication on plasma renin activity, serum and urine electrolytes and body fluids in general anaesthesia, Middle East J. Anaesthesiol. 21 (2011) 71–76.
- [27] S. Vahabi, M. Heidari, M. Ahmadinejad, J. Akhlaghi, M. Birjandi, Comparison of local anesthetic effects of tramadol and lidocaine used subcutaneously in minor surgeries with local anesthesia, Middle East J. Anesthesiol. 21 (2011) 9– 14.
- [28] S. Vahabi, J. Akhlaghi, T606 comparison of local anesthetic effects of tramadol and lidocaine used subcutaneously in minor surgeries with local anesthesia, Eur. J. Pain (Suppl. 5) (2011) 82.
- [29] S. Vogt, D. Troitzsch, S. Spath, R. Moosdorf, Efficacy of ion-selective probes in early epicardial in vivo detection of myocardial ischemia, Physiol. Meas. 25 (2004) N21–N26.
- [30] T. Ji, P. Rai, S. Jung, V.K. Varadan, In vitro evaluation of flexible pH and potassium ion-sensitive organic field effect transistor sensors, Appl. Phys. Lett. 10 (1) (2008) 33–41.
- [31] A. Mohamadi, M. Namdari, B. Rasoulian, A. Raoufi, A. Nazari, Pre-exposure to normobaric hyperoxia has no effect on myocardial injury biomarkers after percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty, Cardiology (2015) 281.
- [32] M. Ghafarzadeh, S. Moeininasab, M. Namdari, Effect of early amniotomy on dystocia risk and cesarean delivery in nulliparous women: a randomized clinical trial, Arch. Gynecol. Obstet. 292 (2015) 321–325.
- [33] B.B. Ahmadi, M. Namdari, H. Mobarakeh, Erectile dysfunction as a predictor of early stage of coronary artery disease, J. Tehran Univ. Heart Cent. 9 (2014) 70.
 [34] T. Tolabi, Z. Vanaki, R. Memarian, M. Namdari, Quality of nursing
- [34] I. IOIADI, Z. VAIIAKI, K. Memarian, M. Namdari, Quality of nursing documentations in CCU by hospital information system (HIS), J. Crit. Care Nurs. 5 (2012) 53–62.
- [35] M. Namdari, M. Ghafarzadeh, M.A. Nikoo, Efficacy of intramuscular methyl prednisolone in preventing restenosis after coronary artery stenting with bare-metal stainless steel stent: a double-blind, randomised, controlled clinical trial, Cardiovasc. J. Afr. 22 (2011) 67.
- [36] A. Errachid, A. Ivorra, J. Aguiló, R. Villa, N. Zine, J. Bausells, New technology for multi-sensor silicon needles for biomedical applications, Sens. Actuators B Chem. 78 (2001) 279–284.
- [37] Y. Cui, Q. Wei, H. Park, C.M. Lieber, Nanowire nanosensors for highly sensitive and selective detection of biological and chemical species, Science 293 (2001) 1289–1292.
- [38] F. Mohammadian, A. Eatemadi, Drug loading and delivery using nanofibers scaffolds, Artif Cells Nanomed, Biotechnol. (2016) 1–8.
- [39] S. Nadri, H. Mahmoudvand, A. Eatemadi, Magnetic nanogel polymer of bupivacaine for ankle block in rats, J. Microencapsul. (2016) 1–23.
- [40] P. Namdari, H. Daraee, A. Eatemadi, Recent advances in silicon nanowire biosensors: synthesis methods, properties, and applications, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 11 (2016) 406.
- [41] K. Seidi, A. Eatemadi, B. Mansoori, R. Jahanban-Esfahlan, D. Farajzadeh, Nanomagnet-based detoxifying machine: an alternative/complementary approach in HIV therapy, J. AIDS Clin. Res. 2014 (2014).
- [42] G. Goudarzi, F. Tahmasbi, K. Anbari, M. Ghafarzadeh, Distribution of genes encoding resistance to macrolides among staphylococci isolated from the

nasal cavity of hospital employees in Khorramabad, Iran, Iran. Red Crescent Med. J. 18 (2016).

- [43] G. Goudarzi, M. Ghafarzadeh, P. Shakib, K. Anbari, Culture and real-time PCR based maternal screening and antibiotic susceptibility for group B Streptococcus: an Iranian experience, Glob. J. Health Sci. 7 (2015) 233.
- [44] F. Janani, S. Kohan, F. Taleghani, M. Ghafarzadeh, Challenges to implementing physiologic birth program (pbp): a qualitative study of midwives opinion in Iran, Acta Med. Mediterr. 31 (2015) 1373–1380.
- [45] P. Shakib, S. Ghafourian, G. Goudarzi, M. Ghafarzadeh, H. Noruzian, Prevalence of listeria monocytogenes in pregnant women in Khoram Abad, Iran, J. Pure Appl. Microbiol. 7 (2013) 475–477.
- [46] M. Rouhanizadeh, T. Tang, C. Li, J. Hwang, C. Zhou, T.K. Hsiai, Differentiation of oxidized low density lipoproteins by nanosensors, Sens. Actuators B Chem. 114 (2006) 788–798.
- [47] S. Nadri, H. Mahmoudvand, M. Ahmadinejad, M. Farrokhfar, Z. Obeidavi, Effect of oral Gabapentinon post-operative pain, morphine consumption, nausea and vomiting in patients with urgent appendectomy: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial, Int. J. Adv. Biol. Biomed. Res. 4 (2016) 202–207.
- [48] M. Ahmadinejad, A. Aliepour, K. Anbari, M. Kaviani, H. Ganjizadeh, S. Nadri, N. Foroutani, M. Meysami, V. Almasi, Fine-needle aspiration, touch imprint, and crush preparation cytology for diagnosing thyroid malignancies in thyroid nodules, Indian J. Surg. 77 (2015) 480–483.
- [49] H. Mahmoudvand, S. Fallahi, H. Mahmoudvand, M. Shakibaie, M.F. Harandi, E.S. Dezaki, Efficacy of Myrtus communis L. to inactivate the hydatid cyst protoscoleces, J. Investig. Surg. (2015) 1–7.
- [50] P. Singh, A.R. Devi, H.R. Sharma, H.M. Sharma, Int. J. Curr. Res. Acad. Rev. 3 (2015) 102–114.
- [51] H.T. Aiyelabegan, S.S.Z. Zaidi, S. Fanuel, A. Eatemadi, M.T.K. Ebadi, E. Sadroddiny, Albumin-based biomaterial for lungs tissue engineering applications, Int. J. Polym. Mater. Polym. Biomater. 44 (3) (2016) 45–50.
- [52] S. Beiranvand, A. Eatemadi, A. Karimi, New updates pertaining to drug delivery of local anesthetics in particular bupivacaine using lipid nanoparticles, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 11 (2016) 1–10.
- [53] H. Daraee, A. Eatemadi, E. Ábbasi, S. Fekri Aval, M. Kouhi, A. Akbarzadeh, Application of gold nanoparticles in biomedical and drug delivery, Artif Cells Nanomed. Biotechnol. 44 (2016) 410–422.
- [54] H. Daraee, A. Etemadi, M. Kouhí, S. Alimirzalu, A. Akbarzadeh, Application of liposomes in medicine and drug delivery, Artif Cells Nanomed. Biotechnol. 44 (2016) 381–391.
- [55] A. Eatemadi, M. Darabi, L. Afraidooni, N. Zarghami, H. Daraee, L. Eskandari, H. Mellatyar, A. Akbarzadeh, Comparison, synthesis and evaluation of anticancer drug-loaded polymeric nanoparticles on breast cancer cell lines, Artif Cells Nanomed. Biotechnol. 44 (2016) 1008–1017.
- [56] A. Eatemadi, H. Daraee, H. Karimkhanloo, M. Kouhi, N. Zarghami, A. Akbarzadeh, M. Abasi, Y. Hanifehpour, S.W. Joo, Carbon nanotubes: properties, synthesis, purification, and medical applications, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 9 (2014) 1–13.
- [57] A. Eatemadi, H. Daraee, N. Zarghami, H. Melat Yar, A. Akbarzadeh, Nanofiber: synthesis and biomedical applications, Artif Cells Nanomed. Biotechnol. 44 (2016) 111–121.
- [58] M. Ghafarzadeh, A. Eatemadi, Z. Fakhravar, Human amniotic fluid derived mesenchymal stem cells cause an anti-cancer effect on breast cancer cell line in vitro, Cell. Mol. Biol. 2016 (2016) 102–106.
- [59] S. Jaferian, B. Negahdari, A. Eatemadi, Colon cancer targeting using conjugates biomaterial 5-flurouracil, Biomed. Pharmacother. 84 (2016) 780–788.
- [60] H. Mellatyar, A. Akbarzadeh, M. Rahmati, M.G. Ghalhar, A. Étemadi, K. Nejati-Koshki, N. Zarghami, A. Barkhordari, Comparison of inhibitory effect of 17-DMAG nanoparticles and free 17-DMAG in HSP90 gene expression in lung cancer, Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev. 15 (2014) 8693–8698.
- [61] G. Bozzuto, A. Molinari, Liposomes as nanomedical devices, Int. J. Nanomed. 10 (2015) 975–999.
- [62] H.D. Danenberg, I. Fishbein, J. Gao, J. Mönkkönen, R. Reich, I. Gati, E. Moerman, G. Golomb, Macrophage depletion by clodronate-containing liposomes reduces neointimal formation after balloon injury in rats and rabbits, Circulation 106 (2002) 599–605.
- [63] D. Stephan, B. Gasser, H. San, M. Schubnel, G.J. Nabel, E.G. Nabel, Direct gene transfer in the rat kidney in vivo, Arch. Mal. Coeur Vaiss. 90 (1997) 1127–1130.
- [64] X. Yin, Y. Fu, C. Yutani, Y. Ikeda, K. Enjyoji, H. Kato, HVJ-AVE liposome-mediated Tissue Factor Pathway Inhibitor (TFPI) gene transfer with recombinant TFPI (rTFPI) irrigation attenuates restenosis in atherosclerotic arteries, Int. J. Cardiol. 135 (2009) 245–248.
- [65] M.M. Kaneda, S. Caruthers, G.M. Lanza, S.A. Wickline, Perfluorocarbon Nanoemulsions for quantitative molecular imaging and targeted therapeutics, Ann. Biomed. Eng. 37 (2009) 1922–1933.
- [66] S. Zaitsev, R. Cartier, O. Vyborov, G. Sukhorukov, B.R. Paulke, A. Haberland, Y. Parfyonova, V. Tkachuk, M. Böttger, Polyelectrolyte nanoparticles mediate vascular gene delivery, Pharm. Res. 21 (2004) 1656–1661.
- [67] S. Banai, M. Chorny, S.D. Gertz, I. Fishbein, J. Gao, L. Perez, G. Lazarovichi, A. Gazit, A. Levitzki, G. Golomb, Locally delivered nanoencapsulated tyrphostin (AGL-2043) reduces neointima formation in balloon-injured rat carotid and stented porcine coronary arteries, Biomaterials 26 (2005) 451–461.
- [68] X. Michalet, F.F. Pinaud, Bentolila L. a, J.M. Tsay, S. Doose, J.J. Li, G. Sundaresan, M. Wu a, S.S. Gambhir, S. Weiss, Quantum dots for live cells, in vivo imaging, and diagnostics, Science 307 (2005) 538–544.

- [69] N.K. Devaraj, E.J. Keliher, G.M. Thurber, M. Nahrendorf, R. Weissleder, 18F labeled nanoparticles for in vivo PET-CT imaging, Bioconjug. Chem. 20 (2009) 397-401
- [70] W. Chen, E. Vucic, E. Leupold, W.J.M. Mulder, D.P. Cormode, K.C. Briley-Saebo, A. Barazza, E.A. Fisher, M. Dathe, Z.A. Fayad, Incorporation of an apoE-derived lipopeptide in high-density lipoprotein MRI contrast agents for enhanced imaging of macrophages in atherosclerosis, Contrast Media Mol. Imaging 3 (2008) 233-242.
- [71] C. Corot, P. Robert, J.M. Idée, M. Port, Recent advances in iron oxide nanocrystal technology for medical imaging, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58 (2006) 1471-1504.
- [72] S. Mukundan, K.B. Ghaghada, C.T. Badea, C.Y. Kao, L.W. Hedlund, J.M. Provenzale, G.A. Johnson, E. Chen, R.V. Bellamkonda, A. Annapragada, A liposomal nanoscale contrast agent for preclinical CT in mice, Am. J. Roentgenol. 186 (2006) 300-307.
- [73] D. Kim, S. Park, H.L. Jae, Y.J. Yong, S. Jon, Antibiofouling polymer-coated gold nanoparticles as a contrast agent for in vivo X-ray computed tomography imaging, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129 (2007) 7661-7665.

- [74] D. Pan, M. Pramanik, A. Senpan, et al, Molecular photoacoustic tomography
- with colloidal nanobeacons, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 48 (2009) 4170–4173. [75] M. Nahrendorf, H. Zhang, S. Hembrador, P. Panizzi, D.E. Sosnovik, E. Aikawa, P. Libby, F.K. Swirski, R. Weissleder, Nanoparticle PET-CT imaging of macrophages in inflammatory atherosclerosis, Circulation 117 (2008) 379-387
- [76] J.M. Dubach, S. Das, A. Rosenzweig, H.A. Clark, Visualizing sodium dynamics in isolated cardiomyocytes using fluorescent nanosensors, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 16145-16150.
- [77] J.H. Kim, D.A. Heller, H. Jin, P.W. Barone, C. Song, J. Zhang, L.J. Trudel, G.N. Wogan, S.R. Tannenbaum, M.S. Strano, The rational design of nitric oxide selectivity in single-walled carbon nanotube near-infrared fluorescence sensors for biological detection, Nat. Chem. 1 (2009) 473-481.
- [78] K.H. Shin, C.R. Moon, T.H. Lee, C.H. Lim, Y.J. Kim, Flexible wireless pressure sensor module, Sens. Actuators A Phys. (2005) 30-35.